THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity
Case No. 2010-CP-40-5886

RECEIVED
AUG 09 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-001119

Statement of Issues

- I. Does timely service and filing of a proper Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment stay the enforcement of the subject judgment until such Motion is resolved (rendering null and void any acts to enforce the judgment conducted during such stay)?

- II. Did the Master in Equity err in granting the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, effectively finding that there are no genuine issues of material fact in dispute, where:
 - a. The Defendant contested the Plaintiff's assertion that the mortgagors intended to mortgage any property other than the real property unambiguously described in the mortgage?
 - b. There is no finding that the contract is ambiguous, and the parties to the contract (mortgage) are neither parties in the case nor have appeared to assert a position?
 - c. The Plaintiff claims the contract (mortgage) is defective as a result of mutual mistake (failure to encumber a mobile home), but no effort is made by the Plaintiff to demonstrate how the allegedly mistaken contract is inconsistent with a prior agreement between the parties?

- III. Did the Master in Equity err in accepting in evidence in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment: (1) an Affidavit of Indebtedness, which is inadmissible hearsay, and (2) an Affidavit of Attorney's Fees, which had not been served in advance as required by Court Rules and which failed to support the amount of the requested fee?

- IV. Did the Master in Equity err in issuing a Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, in conjunction

with the granting of the Motion for Summary Judgment, which Judgment granted relief to the Plaintiff (e.g. “Defendant Mahasin K. Bowen’s counterclaims are dismissed with prejudice”), which was not requested in the Motion for Summary Judgment?

Statement of the Case

This is a mortgage foreclosure action instituted by Respondent, MidFirst Bank. Appellant, Mahasin K. Bowen, was one of the owners of the land and mobile home, which were sold at a foreclosure sale. For purposes of this appeal, her defenses/arguments are that the mobile home was not mortgaged by a predecessor in title, that for various reasons, the granting of the Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment was improper, and that the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale was improperly enforced during the pendency of a proper Rule 59(e) Motion.

On August 27, 2010, MidFirst Bank instituted this suit in Richland County, which suit was assigned Civil Action No. 2010-CP-40-05886. On January 2, 2013, MidFirst Bank filed an Amended Complaint (R.p.____).

On March 15, 2013, Ms. Bowen timely filed her Answer (R.p.____) to the Amended Complaint, which responsive pleading included numerous affirmative, and other, defenses and counterclaims. She acted *pro se* and attempted to respond on behalf of other Defendants (other owners of the subject properties), as well as for herself (as Personal Representative for the Estate of Mary Lee Samuel and individually). On April 23, 2013, MidFirst Bank timely filed a Reply to the Counterclaims (R.p.____). On August 19, 2013, the Plaintiff filed an Affidavit of Default as to the property-owners other than Ms. Bowen.

On May 11, 2015, MidFirst Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R.p.____). This

Motion was accompanied by a Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (R.p. ___) and an Affidavit of Indebtedness (R.p. ___).

On July 28, 2015, the Motion for Summary Judgment was heard by the Master in Equity for Richland County. An Affidavit of Attorney's Fees was filed on July 28, 2015 (R.p. ___). A Record of Hearing for Foreclosure Case was also filed on July 28, 2015 (R.p. ___).

The Master in Equity's Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale (Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment) was issued on July 28, 2015 (precisely as pre-prepared by the Plaintiff's counsel and submitted at the hearing) and filed on July 29, 2015 (R.p. ___).

On August 10, 2015, Ms. Bowen timely served and filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment (R.p. ___).

On September 8, 2015, the subject property (land and mobile home), which was owned jointly by Ms. Bowen and other Defendants, was sold by the Master in Equity. MidFirst Bank was the successful bidder and received a deed from the Master in Equity conveying the subject property to it.

On October 5, 2015, Ms. Bowen served a Petition to Set Aside Judicial Sale (R.p. ___).

[Through this point, the owners of the subject property, including Ms. Bowen, were not represented by an attorney, the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment had been completely ignored by the Court and MidFirst Bank, and the subject property was sold at auction without further notice to the owners.]

Ms. Bowen retained an attorney in late-October 2015; and at her attorney's request, the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and the Petition to Set Aside Judicial Sale were set for hearing

before the Master in Equity on November 4, 2015. Appellant, through her attorney, submitted a Points and Authorities, which was filed on November 4, 2015 (R.p. ____).

The hearing on November 4, 2015, was effectively a one-sided hearing. MidFirst Bank's primary counsel did not appear, but he was afforded an opportunity to submit a written response after reviewing the transcript of the motion hearing (R.p. ____).

Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, Petition to Set Aside Judicial Sale and Points and Authorities was filed on November 18, 2015 (R.p. ____). Ms. Bowen filed a Reply to Plaintiff's Memorandum on November 24, 2015 (R.p. ____).

On April 25, 2016, almost six months after the motion hearing, the Master in Equity issued an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, Petition to Set Aside Judicial Sale, and Points and Authorities (R.p. ____), which summarily denied (without findings/conclusions) the Motion and the Petition. This Order was received by Ms. Bowen's attorney on May 2, 2016 (R.p. ____).

On May 6, 2016, Ms. Bowen, through her attorney, served and filed a Motion to Reconsider and to Alter or Amend Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and Petition to Set Aside Judicial Sale (R.p. ____). This motion was argued before the Master in Equity on May 19, 2016. The Master in Equity summarily denied (without findings/conclusions) the Motion. (This was an oral Order, which has not been reduced to writing and filed.)

On May 26, 2016, a Notice of Appeal was served and was filed in this Court (R.p. ____). This Notice was filed less than 30 days after Ms. Bowen's attorney received the Order filed on April 25, 2016.

Statement of Facts

The Plaintiff, by its Amended Complaint (R.p. ____), sought to collect a debt evidenced by a promissory note, dated December 23, 1999, which was given to South Trust Mortgage Corporation by Mary L. Samuel (a/k/a Mary Lee Samuel), through an *in rem* mortgage foreclosure action, whereby it requested the sale of certain property mortgaged to South Trust Mortgage Corporation by Mary L. Samuel (a/k/a Mary Lee Samuel) and Raymond Samuel (a/k/a Shamsud-din Raymond Samuel) by mortgage dated December 23, 1999 (R.p. ____).

The said mortgage described the encumbered real property as follows:

All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land containing 5.67 acres, more or less, with any improvements thereon, being located near Columbia, County of Richland, State of South Carolina, and being a portion of the property shown on that certain plat prepared for Jo Anne B. Turner by Douglas E. Platt, Sr., RLS, No. 4041, dated 3/9/87, and recorded in the RMC Office for Richland County 3/31/87 in Plat Book 51 at page 5630 and on a plat prepared for Ellie Martin by D. T. Duncan, recorded in the RMC Office for Richland County in Plat Book X page 485. Reference is craved to said plats for a more complete description of boundaries and measurements; be all measurements a little more or less.

TMS#: 22606-01-01 (Portion).

In its Amended Complaint, the Plaintiff ignored the said legal description found in the mortgage and incorrectly asserted that Mary L. Samuel (a/k/a Mary Lee Samuel) and Raymond Samuel (a/k/a Shamsud-din Raymond Samuel) delivered a mortgage “securing the below described real property,” which real property is described as follows:

All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land, containing 5.67 acres, more or less, being a portion of said tract of land comprising 10.4 acres, more or less, situate on the northwestern side of Percival Road, about 10 miles from the City of Columbia, in the County of Richland, State of South Carolina, and being more fully shown and delineated upon a plat prepared for Effie Martin by D.T. Duncan recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Richland County in Plat Book X at page 485; less and excepting a tract containing 2.38 acres, more or less, as shown on that

certain plat prepared for Fred S. Breeland, Jr. by Douglas E. Platt, Sr., RLS, dated December 13, 1973 and recorded in the RMC Office for Richland County in Plat Book 44 at page 895 and also shown on that certain plat prepared for Jo Anne B. Turner by Douglas E. Platt, Sr., RLS, No. 4041, dated 3/9/1998, and recorded in the RMC Office for Richland County 3/31/87 in Plat Book 51 at Page 5630; and further less and excepting a tract containing 2.35 acres, more or less, situate, lying and being on the south side of Old Percival Road, about 10 miles from the City of Columbia, County of Richland, State of South Carolina, and being more fully shown and delineated upon a plat prepared for Fred S. Breeland, Jr. and Mildred M. Breeland by Douglas E. Platt, Sr., dated August 24, 1976, and being bounded and measuring on said plat as follows: commencing at a pin on the southeast side of Old Percival Road and running S12°00'E along property now or formerly of Catherin Mimms and property now or formerly of Fred S. Breeland for a distance of 335.2 feet; thence turning and running S76°40'W along property now or formerly of Fred S. Breeland for a distance of 310.7 feet along an old fence to Old Percival Road; thence turning and running N72°21'E along Old Percival Road for a distance of 330.9 feet to the point of beginning. This being the northwestern-most portion of property heretofore conveyed to Fred S. Breeland and Mildred M. Breeland by deed of Effie Chambers Martin dated March 15, 1968, recorded in Deed Book D100 at page 491.

See Consent Order in Richland County Case Number 2007-CP-40-6491 which reformed the mortgage legal description

Derivation: This being the same property conveyed to Jo Anne D. Turned by deed of Fred S. Breeland, Jr. and Elizabeth B. Breeland recorded June 3, 1982 in Book 611 at Page 8. This property was subsequently conveyed to Raymond Samuel by deed of Jo Anne B. Turner dated May 6, 1993 and recorded May 11, 1993 in Book 1141 at page 11. Raymond Samuel subsequently conveyed and undivided 1/3 interest to Charles Samuel, Sr. and an undivided one-third interest to Mary L. Samuel by deed dated January 23, 1995 and recorded January 31, 1995 in Book 1240 at page 751. Charles Samuel, Sr.'s undivided 1/3 interest was conveyed to Mary Lee Samuel by Deed of Distribution dated October 2, 1998 and recorded December 20, 1999 in Book 369 at page 2227. Mary Lee Samuel conveyed her undivided 2/3 interest to Raymond Samuel by Quit Claim Deed dated September 20, 2000 and recorded September 27, 2000 in Book 445 at page 2684.

Parcel Number: R22606-01-01

Property Address: 3307 Percival Road, Columbia, SC 29223

The "Consent Order in Richland County Case Number 2007-CP-40-6491" (referred to above in the latter legal description) was an Order consented to by MidFirst Bank, as the only participant directly interested in the said mortgage. Although the Amended Complaint implies to

the contrary, neither the makers of the mortgage, the lender (original mortgagee), nor any present or past owners of the mortgaged property participated in the entry of the said Consent Order.

Even as allegedly reformed (in the 2007 suit), the legal description of the mortgaged property does not include a mobile home. There is no mention whatsoever of a mobile home in the reformed legal description. Interestingly, it does not even include the routinely-inserted phrase, “with any improvements thereon.”

The legal description in the mortgage refers to plats prepared for Jo Anne B. Turner (R.p. ____) and Effie Martin (R.p. ____). Neither of these plats depicts a mobile home on the subject land.

The legal description, as unilaterally reformed by MidFirst Bank, refers to the two plats mentioned above and to a plat prepared for Fred S. Breeland (R.p. ____). This plat also does not depict a mobile home on the subject land.

The mobile home in question was, at all relevant times, titled in the manner of a vehicle¹, which unquestionably determines its existence as personal property, and it was not a part of any real property, including the mortgaged real property.

The Amended Complaint also states:

17. Also included as additional collateral for the subject loan transactions was a 1994/OMNI Destiny mobile/manufactured home containing serial number “036366A&B” (hereinafter “Manufactured Home”). According to the records and database of the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (Hereafter “DMV”), the owners of the mobile/manufactured home are Charles Samuel and Mary Lee Samuel and Defendant Security Pacific

¹ The Judgment found that the Manufactured Home is both: “titled in the records and database of the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles” and never filed in said Department (the said Department “has never issued a certificate of title pertaining to the subject Manufactured Home”) (R.pp. ____).

Housing Services, Inc. is the holder of a lien on said mobile/manufactured home.

18. It was the intent of all parties to the subject loan transaction that i) that the Manufactured Home was already converted to be considered an improvement and/or permanent fixture of the Property, or that it would be converted as a part of this transaction; and ii) the Manufactured Home would be part of the secured collateral for the Mortgage. However, due to inadvertent error and mistake, the Manufactured Home was not described in the Mortgage. The Mortgage should be reformed to include the following statement "Also included as collateral for the subject mortgage is that certain 1994 Destiny Omni manufactured/mobile home bearing VIN number "036366A&B" and said reformation should relate back to the date of its recording.

Ms. Bowen's Answer to the Amended Complaint clearly opposes the reformation of the Mortgage, as follows:

16. . . . The said "Mortgage" is a document which speaks for itself and any characterization of it contained in paragraph 17 of the Amended Complaint is therefore denied pursuant to the applicable rules of civil procedure. . . .
17. . . . The said "Mortgage" is a document which speaks for itself and any characterization of it contained in Paragraph 18 of the Amended Complaint is therefore denied pursuant to the applicable rules of civil procedure. Moreover, Plaintiff's effort to simultaneously reform and foreclose upon the same mortgage is clearly improper.

As indicated or implied by the Amended Complaint, the Certificate of Title to the mobile home identified above reflects no lien in favor of MidFirst Bank (or any previous holder of the mortgage.)² The proper (probably exclusive) means of placing a lien upon a mobile home, i.e. cite the lienholder on the Certificate of Title³, was not followed.

² Interestingly, the Amended Complaint, in Paragraphs 18. and 21.c., describes a (properly cited) lien on the mobile home title in favor of the Defendant, Security Pacific Housing Services, Inc.

³ S.C. Code Annot. §56-19-210 provides that, "It shall be unlawful for any person to . . . mortgage in this state . . . any mobile home, unless a certificate of title has been issued therefor and is currently valid"

There is no evidence before the Court that a mobile home was intended to be a part of the mortgaged property. The Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (R.p. ____) included, as an exhibit, an appraisal which vaguely mentioned a mobile home ("manufactured house"). This appraisal is not part of the evidence presented in this case, as it was not supported by affidavit.

The Amended Complaint asserts that the mortgage, which was delivered to South Trust Mortgage Corporation, was assigned, first, to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. as nominee for Homeside Lending, Inc. and then to MidFirst Bank. (R.p. ____)

There has been no involvement whatsoever in this case by South Trust Mortgage Corporation, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. or Homeside Lending, Inc. At a minimum, South Trust Mortgage Corporation, the lender (the loan originator and original mortgagee), must participate on the issue of the parties' intention with regard to the collateral for the loan.

Standard of Review; Summary Judgment Standard

"The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases not requiring the services of a fact finder. George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001). When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP; summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be

viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C., 354 S.C. 397, 404, 581 S.E.2d 161, 165 (2003).” Penza v. Pendleton Station, LLC, 404 S.C. 198, 203, 743 S.E.2d 850 (Ct.App. 2013).

“Summary judgment should be denied where the facts, although not in dispute, are nonetheless subject to conflicting inferences. Lyles v. BMI, Inc., 292 S.C. 153, 355 S.E. (2d) 282 (Ct.App. 1987). Summary judgment is also improper where the motion presents a question as to the construction of a written contract, and the language employed in the contract is ambiguous so that intention of the parties as to the legal effect of the contract may not be gathered from the four corners of the instrument. First Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Conway National Bank, 282 S.C. 303, 317 S.E. (2d) 776 (Ct.App. 1984).” Bishop v. Benson, 297 S.C. 14, 17, 374 S.E.2d 517 (Ct.App. 1988).

“Where there is ambiguity, uncertainty or doubt as to proper construction of contract, intention of the parties becomes a question of fact for the jury to determine.” Garrett v. Pilot Life Ins. Co., 241 S.C. 299, 305, 128 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1962). Waters v. S. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 365 S.C. 519, 524, 617 S.E.2d 385 (Ct.App. 2005).

“Summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be cautiously invoked in order not to improperly deprive a litigant of a trial of the disputed factual issues. Murray v. Holnam, Inc., 344 S.C. 129, 138, 542 S.E.2d 743, 747 (Ct.App. 2001).” HK New Plan Exch. Prop. Owner I, LLC v. Coker, 375 S.C. 18, 22, 649 S.E.2d 181 (Ct.App. 2007).

Analysis and Argument

Appellant's arguments demonstrating that the granting of Respondent's Motion for Judgment should be reversed can be summarized as follows:

1. The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale was improperly enforced during the pendency of Appellant's Rule 59(e) Motion.
2. The subject mortgage (which made no reference to a mobile home) was unambiguous, and no evidence has been presented by Respondent that the parties to the mortgage intended that a mobile home be included as collateral for the loan.
3. The Affidavit of Indebtedness and the Affidavit of Attorney's Fees were improperly accepted in evidence.
4. The dismissal with prejudice of Appellant's counterclaims, without request or any evaluation, was improper.

Effect of Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment

Ms. Bowen's proper Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment (R.p. ____), which was filed on August 10, 2015, was completely ignored until more than a month after the foreclosure sale. This Motion finally came to be heard on November 4, 2015.

After the Motion was served and filed, the Plaintiff proceeded promptly to enforce the subject judgment (with the advertising of the Notice of Sale), and the mortgaged property (as reformed to include the mobile home) was auctioned-off by the Master in Equity on September 8, 2015. This sale was conducted without notice to the Defendants (including Ms. Bowen) other than

the publication of the Notice of Sale, which means of notice, without more, rarely results in actual notice.

Ms. Bowen's Motion was made in accordance with Rule 59, SCRPC. The portions of Rule 59, which are relevant to this Motion, are as follows:

(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.

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