15

RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

DEC 19 2016

In the Court of Appeals

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

Case No. 2010-CP-40-05886

Appellate Case No. 2016-001119

MidFirst Bank,Respondent

v.

Mahasin K. Bowen as Personal Representative for the Estate of Mary Lee Samuel; Mahasin K. Bowen; Cecil Samuel a/k/a Cecil A. Samuel; Charles Samuel, Jr.; Earl Hassan Samuel; Kenneth Kareem Samuel; Kilgore Marketing Solutions d/b/a RSVP Columbia; Tauheedah Maeen; Raymond Samuel a/k/a Shamsud-din Raymond Samuel; South Carolina Attorney General; South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles, Defendants

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

ARGUMENT

1. THE MASTER IN EQUITY PROPERLY SOLD THE SUBJECT PROPERTY PURSUANT TO A VALID JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE AND SALE.

The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale was entered on July 29, 2015. Subsequently a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on August 10, 2015. (R. pp. 107-110.) The Court issued a Notice of Sale which was properly advertised. The subject property was sold on September 8, 2015.

Appellant contends the Foreclosure sale should not have occurred while a Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion was pending. This is error. Rule 62, SCRCF, governs a Stay of Proceedings to Enforce Judgment. Rule 62(b) addresses this issue directly. In pertinent part it states:

(b) Stay on Motion for New Trial or for Judgment. In its discretion and on such conditions for the security of the adverse party as are proper, the court may stay the execution of or any proceedings to enforce a judgment pending the disposition of a motion for a new trial or to alter or amend a judgment made pursuant to Rule 59, or of a motion for relief from a judgment or order made pursuant to Rule 60...

The rule grants the Court the discretion to stay any proceedings. The rule does not require the proceedings to be stayed, and it does not automatically stay them. The party seeking to have the proceedings stayed must make a motion to do so. Stearns Bank Nat. Ass'n v. Glenwood Falls, LP, 375 S.C. 423, 425, 653 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2007). No such request was made in this case, so the Court properly sold the property.

Rule 62(b), SCRCF, makes clear that the Court's discretion to stay proceedings to enforce a judgment are the same for motions made under Rule 59 or Rule 60, SCRCF. In

Stearns Bank Nat. Ass'n v. Glenwood Falls, LP, 375 S.C. 423, 653 S.E.2d 274 (2007), the Court directly ruled on the issue raised by the Appellant in this matter. The Court held:

The filing of a Rule 60(b) motion “does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation.” Rule 60(b). If the debtor wishes to stay enforcement of the judgment pending the trial court's disposition of the debtor's Rule 60(b) motion, the burden is on it to make the motion under Rule 62(b), SCRPC. Whether to grant such a stay rests in the court's discretion “on such conditions for the security of the [creditor] as are proper ...” Rule 62(b). The policy expressed in Rule 60 and in Rule 62(b) favors the creditor over the debtor.

The Appellant did not move the Court pursuant to Rule 62(b) to stay proceedings to enforce the judgment, so the Court was correct in holding the sale. Further, had the Appellant made a motion to stay the proceedings under Rule 62(b) the Court would have had the discretion to stay the proceedings and could have properly allowed them to proceed.

2. NONE OF THE ISSUES REGARDING THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT ARE PRESERVED

a. The issues raised by Appellant in her Appeal were not raised at the Summary Judgment hearing.

Appellant was served with Respondent's motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 21-103.) Appellant did not respond. Appellant was properly notified of the time and place of hearing for Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 3-5.) Appellant did not attend. Accordingly, Appellant did not raise any arguments or objections, so those issues are not preserved for review. “It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved.” Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006).

b. The issues raised by the Appellant in her Appeal were not properly raised in her Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment

In the instant appeal Appellant seeks to challenge the grant of summary judgment regarding the reformation of mortgage to include the subject mobile home. The Appellant's¹ Motion to Alter of Amend Judgment contains twenty-six (26) numbered paragraphs. The motion does not contain a single mention of the reformation cause of action or the mobile home situated on the subject property. The issues were not raised in response to the Summary Judgment motion, were not raised at the Summary Judgment hearing and were not raised in the Motion to Alter or Amend.

Attached to Appellant's Motion was an un-notarized affidavit which contains the statement:

5. Midfirst Bank requests additional collateral 1994 /Omi Destiny Mobile/Manufacture home clearly not included in the original Note/Mortgage which present genuine material facts.

This is the only statement regarding the mobile home in any documents related to the original Motion to Alter or Amend. The statement varies greatly from the issues Appellant seeks to raise now. A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve the issue for appellate review, but it must be clear the argument was presented on that ground. State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 697 S.E.2d 593 (2010).

It is not clear what issue Appellant was raising by the statement in the attached affidavit. On appeal Appellant seeks to delve into the intent of the parties. A challenge to

¹ The Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment appears to be submitted by Appellant, but it is not entirely clear. The Defendant's attorney is listed as LegalShield on the motion coversheet. The motion coversheet is signed by Kenneth K. Samuel. The signature block on the motion itself lists the entity as "Estate of Mary L. Samuel, Mahasin Bowen"

the intent of the parties cannot be reasonably read into the Motion to Alter or Amend; therefore, it is not preserved for review.

On appeal Appellant also seeks review of evidentiary issues, related to the Affidavit of Indebtedness and Affidavit of Attorney's Fees. Appellant made no objection at the hearing on Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Motion to Alter or Amend also contains no explicit evidentiary objections. Nor can any evidentiary objections be reasonably read into the Motion. The issues regarding evidence being neither raised at the Hearing nor raised in the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment are not preserved for review.

c: Appellant could not raise issues for the first time in her Rule 59(e) motion.

Appellant filed a motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCF, to Alter or Amend Judgment. Assuming *arguendo* that the trial court could have interpreted the motion to include the issues now raised in the appeal, those issues could not have been raised for the first time in a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. "A party cannot raise an issue for the first time in a Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion which could have been raised at trial." MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Associates, Inc., 356 S.C. 370, 374, 588 S.E.2d 639, 641 (Ct. App. 2003).

By failing to attend the summary judgment hearing and thus failing to raise any issue at trial, Appellant did not preserve any issues for appellate review.

3. THE MASTER IN EQUITY PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT

"Summary judgment is appropriate where it is clear there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving part is entitled to judgment as a matter of law" Brooks v. Northwood Little League, 327 S.C. 400, 489 S.E.2d 647, 648 (Ct. App. 1997). Summary judgment is appropriate 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and

admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to a judgment as a matter of law.” Branch Banking and Trust, Co. v. Carolina Crank and Core, Inc., 362 S.C. 647, 651, 608 S.E.2d 896, 899 (Ct. App. 2005). “In order to resist a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing genuine issues necessitating trial.” Nationsbank v. Scott Farm, 320 S.C. 299, 303, 465 S.E.2d 98, 100 (Ct. App. 1995). “Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the opposing party must, under Rule 56(e), do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts but must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Hedgepath v. AT&T, 348 S.C. 430, 559 S.E.2d 327 (Ct. App. 2001).

a. By failing to respond to discovery, the answering Defendants rendered the requests for admission conclusive admitted thereby leaving no genuine issue of material fact.

At no time did the Appellant show that there is any genuine issue of material fact which would necessitate a full trial. Discovery was served upon Appellant on July 16, 2013. After several attempts to obtain discovery responses, and several attempts to set up a deposition, the discovery process was rendered moot. By failing to respond to discovery, including requests for admissions, the Appellant conclusively admitted that there is no genuine issue of material fact present in this action. In South Carolina, a party’s failure to respond to Requests for Admissions render the matters listed in the requests conclusively admitted. Rule 36(a), SCRPC. See Hatchell v. Jackson, 290 S.C. 256, 349 S.E.2d 407 (Ct. App. 1986) Admissions obtained from a failure to respond to a request for admission are just as binding on a party as answers in pleadings or stipulations. Commerce Center of

Greenville, Inc. v. W. Powers McElveen and Assocs., Inc., 347 S.C. 545, 554, 556 S.E.2d 718, 723 (Ct. App. 2001). “[O]ur courts have repeatedly found that failure to respond to requests for admissions deems matters contained therein admitted for trial, regardless of whether the admission concerns a matter responded to in a party’s pleadings.” Scott v. Greenville Housing Authority, 353 S.C. 639, 646, 579 S.E.2d 151, 154-55 (Ct. App. 2003).

By failing to respond to the admissions, Appellant admitted the following:

- Mary L. Samuel entered into the note under its terms;
- Mary L. Samuel & Raymond Samuel agreed to be bound by the terms of the note;
- The note was secured by the mortgage that they executed;
- The mortgage intended to include the mobile home;
- Installments of principal and interest falling due from and after February 1, 2010, have not been paid although demand for the payment thereof has been made, thereby placing Mary L. Samuel in default under the terms of the note and mortgage;
- There is now due and owing the principal sum of \$62,787.47;
- Any notice required by the terms of the mortgage or by state or federal law has been given to all applicable defendants prior to the commencement of this action;
- The answering Defendants have no legal defenses to this action;
- Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. and MidFirst Bank are not liable for any of the counterclaims alleged;
- Mary L. Samuel and Raymond Samuel received and signed the Federal Truth in Lending Document;
- Mary L. Samuel received and signed the RESPA Servicing Disclosure on November 29, 1999; and

- Mary L. Samuel received and signed the Notice of Right to Cancel on December 23, 1999.

Given that each of these facts has been admitted as a matter of law, there was no genuine issue of material fact and summary judgment and reformation of the mortgage were properly entered in this matter.

b. The Respondent established all of the facts necessary to recover on its causes of action for foreclosure and reformation of mortgage. No specific facts were raised by the Appellant to show the necessity of a full trial.

The Note and Mortgage are direct evidence of the terms and existence of the agreement entered into by Ms. Samuel. (R. pp. 50-58.) The note endorsement and assignments demonstrate that the Note and Mortgage were properly transferred to the Respondent. (R. pp. 50-58, 95-97.) Further bolstering its motion, the Respondent submitted an Affidavit of Indebtedness, for which no objection was tendered. (R. pp. 98-100.) The Respondent's Affidavit clearly establishes the breach of the note and mortgage and the amount and measures of damages sustained by the Respondent as a result of the Ms. Samuel's breach.

Additionally, looking at the exhibits to the discovery and in particular the appraisal of the property utilized for the loan, it is clear that the subject property included a manufactured home and that the mortgage intended to encumber the manufactured home on the property. Thus the mortgage should be reformed to include the manufactured home. (R. pp. 60-94.) Specifically, in the appraisal is the language "The subject is a manufactured house." This is an extremely clear and unambiguous showing that the manufactured house located on the subject property was intended, by both parties, to be collateral for the loan.

Additionally, and further evidencing the intent of the parties to include the mobile home as collateral, are pictures taken by the appraiser which were included with the appraisal as a photograph addendum. The language, combined with the photograph addendum, completely and unequivocally evidences the intent of the parties to include the mobile home as collateral for the loan.

With the copies of the note, mortgage, and the Respondent's Affidavit, the essential elements and facts of the Respondent's cause of action for foreclosure have been established. By including a copy of the appraisal, the Respondent has clearly shown that reformation was appropriate. As such there are no material issues of fact and summary judgment is appropriate. Summary judgment is appropriate when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

c. The award of attorney's fees was proper under the terms of the note and mortgage, and given the amount of work expended in this action.

"When the contract provides for 'reasonable' attorneys' fees without specifying a rate or amount, the issue of attorneys' fees is left to the discretion of the trial judge." Dedes v. Strickland, 307 S.C. 155, 160, 414 S.E.2d 134, 137 (1992).

The Respondent is entitled to recover from the Defendants reasonable attorney's fees and court costs incurred in bringing this action, (R. pp. 52-58.) and, as evidence of these costs expended by the Respondent in this action, the Respondent submitted two Affidavits of Attorney's Fees and Court Costs to the Court. The first was submitted with

the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 101-103.) An updated Affidavit was submitted at the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 104-106.) Both Affidavits of Attorney's Fees were received by the Court without objection.

At no time did the answering Appellant raise any issue of material fact as to the amount of attorney's fees awarded to the Respondent. This case had been ongoing for five years, involved a title issue, discovery, deposition, a reply to the Appellant's sixteen page answer with counterclaims, researching and drafting a twenty-eight page memo with over eighty pages of exhibits to counter each of the Appellant's assertions, and multiple hearings. The amount of attorney's fees awarded to the Respondent is completely reasonable given the facts of this case.

d. The Relief granted in the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale was proper.

In her brief the Appellant contends the dismissal of her counterclaims with prejudice was improper because that relief was not specifically requested in the Motion for Summary Judgment. The dismissal was appropriate.

In its Amended Complaint Respondent prayed for, *inter alia*, "For such other and further relief as may be just and proper." (R. p. 159.) Then in its Reply to Appellant's Answer and Counterclaim Respondent specifically requested dismissal of the Appellant's Counterclaims. Respondent prayed "That the Defendant's Answer and Counterclaims be dismissed with costs." (R. p. 187.) The dismissal of the counterclaims was specifically requested.

Had Respondent not specifically requested dismissal of the counterclaims, the Master could have dismissed them anyway. "South Carolina law permits recovery in excess of the relief requested by Plaintiff" Mosley v. Quicken Loans, Inc., No. CIV.A.1:16-

cv-00384-JMC, 2016 WL 3597596, at 2 (D.S.C. July 5, 2016). See Battery Homeowners Ass'n v. Lincoln Fin. Res., Inc., 309 S.C. 247, 250-251, 422 S.E.2d 93, 95-96 (1992) (quoting South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 54(c) which provides that a party shall be granted the relief to which it is entitled even if the relief was not demanded in the pleadings), Rule 54(c), SCRPC. When the Appellant did not appear at the Summary Judgment hearing dismissal of her counterclaims became relief to which Respondent was entitled.

CONCLUSION

There was overwhelming evidence the Note and Mortgage were not paid. None was presented at any time to contradict Respondent's case. There was evidence from the time of the loan transaction that the subject property included a manufactured home. There was evidence the parties intended to encumber the subject property. That intent was frustrated when the manufactured home was not specifically included. The Court properly fixed this clear error with the reformation.

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